
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

JACKSONVILLE DIVISION 
 

ABILITY HOUSING OF   ) 
NORTHEAST FLORIDA, INC.,  ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) Case No. 3:15-cv-1380-J-32PDB 
 v.     ) 
      ) 
CITY OF JACKSONVILLE,   ) 
      ) 
   Defendant.  ) 
___________________________________ ) 
DISABILITY RIGHTS FLORIDA, INC., ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) Case No. 3:15-cv-1411-J-32JRK 
 v.     ) 
      ) 
CITY OF JACKSONVILLE,   ) 
      ) 
   Defendant.  ) 
___________________________________ ) 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) Case No. 3:16-cv-1563-J-32PDB 
 v.     ) 
      ) 
CITY OF JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA ) 
      ) 
   Defendant.  ) 
___________________________________ ) 
 
 

CONSENT DECREE BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND 
THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA 

 
 The United States of America alleges as follows: 
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NATURE OF ACTION 

1. The United States initiated this action to enforce the Fair Housing Act, Title 

VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, as amended (“FHA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601 et seq., 

and Titles II and V of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended (“ADA”), 

42 U.S.C. §§ 12131–12134, 12203, and their implementing regulation, 28 C.F.R. Part 35. 

In its Complaint, the United States alleges that the City of Jacksonville, Florida (“City”) 

discriminated on the basis of disability, in violation of the FHA and ADA, by preventing 

Ability Housing, Inc. (“Ability Housing”) from developing permanent supportive 

housing for people with disabilities within its Springfield Historic District (“Springfield”) 

and by retaliating against Ability Housing after it made a complaint under the FHA and 

ADA.  

2. The United Stated alleges in the Complaint that the City’s application of its 

Zoning Code to Ability Housing has denied or has otherwise made housing unavailable 

because of disability, in violation of the FHA, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(1); that the City 

denied Ability Housing’s requests for a reasonable accommodation to the Zoning Code 

when such accommodation may have been necessary to afford persons with disabilities 

an equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 

3604(f)(3)(B); and that the City retaliated against Ability Housing because it made a 

complaint under the FHA, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3617. 

3. The United States alleges that the City’s actions constitute a denial of rights 

protected by the FHA to a group of persons, which raises an issue of general public 

importance, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3614(a). 
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4. The United States also alleges that the City violated Title II of the ADA, 42 

U.S.C. § 12132, by excluding individuals with disabilities from participation in, and by 

denying them the benefits, services, programs, or activities of a public entity, as well as 

by failing to make reasonable modifications to its policies, practices, or procedures; and 

that the City violated Title V of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12203, by discriminating against 

Ability Housing because it opposed an act or practice made unlawful by Title II of the 

ADA. 

5. On November 18, 2015, Ability Housing filed a federal lawsuit in this Court 

under the FHA and ADA against the City (Case No. 3:15-CV-1380) alleging claims 

related to those alleged in the United States’ Complaint. Disability Rights Florida, an 

advocate for people with disabilities throughout Florida (together with Ability Housing, 

“the Private Plaintiffs”), also filed suit on November 25, 2015 (Case No. 3:15-CV-1411). 

In the two suits, which are consolidated with the United States’ Complaint, the Private 

Plaintiffs and the City reached a settlement agreement resolving the Private Plaintiffs’ 

complaints (“Private Settlement Agreement”). The Private Settlement Agreement appears 

as Appendix A. As stipulated in the Private Settlement Agreement, within 10 days of the 

City’s fulfillment of its obligations under the Private Settlement Agreement, the Private 

Plaintiffs will dismiss with prejudice their cases (Case Nos. 3:15-CV-1380 and 3:15-CV-

1411). 

6. The United States and the City have voluntarily agreed to resolve the United 

States’ claims against the City by entering into this Consent Decree (“Decree”), as 

indicated by the signatures below and by the ratification of the Decree by the Jacksonville 
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City Council on ____________ through Ordinance No. __________. Together with the 

Private Settlement Agreement, as incorporated herein, this Decree is intended to effect a 

comprehensive settlement of the United States’ and the related claims of the Private 

Plaintiffs. 

7. The City expressly denies any wrongdoing as alleged by the United States in 

the Complaint. It is understood and acknowledged that this Decree does not constitute an 

admission by the City of any violation of the FHA, ADA, or any other law. 

Therefore, it is hereby ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED as follows: 

JURISDICTION 

8. This Court has jurisdiction over this action, and may grant the relief sought 

herein, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345; 42 U.S.C. § 3614(a); 42 U.S.C. §§ 

12132-12133, 12203(c); and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202.  

GENERAL INJUNCTION AND NONDISCRIMINATION PROVISIONS 

9. The City, its agents, employees, successors, and all persons in active concert or 

participation with it, shall not:  

a. Deny, or otherwise make unavailable, a dwelling to a buyer or renter 

because of a disability of that buyer or renter, of any person residing in or 

intending to reside in such dwelling, or of any person associated with such 

buyer or renter; 

b. Adopt, maintain, enforce, or implement any zoning or land use laws, 

regulations, policies, procedures or practices that discriminate on the basis 

of disability in violation of the FHA and the ADA;  
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c. Refuse to make reasonable accommodations1 in the application of rules, 

policies, practices or services when such accommodations may be 

necessary to afford a person or persons with disabilities an equal 

opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling; or 

d. Coerce, intimidate, threaten, or interfere with persons in the exercise of or 

enjoyment of, or on account of their having exercised or enjoyed, or on 

account of their having aided or encouraged any other person in the 

exercise of enjoyment of, any right granted or protected by the FHA or 

ADA. 

SPECIFIC INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

10. As stipulated in the Private Settlement Agreement, the City shall rescind the 

May 29, 2014 Written Interpretation related to Ability Housing within 10 days of the City 

Council’s approval of the Private Settlement Agreement referenced in Paragraph 5, 

above. 

11. The City shall not deem any entity or individual(s) ineligible to receive City 

funds on the basis that the entity or individual(s) complained, in any manner and 

including but not limited to filing a lawsuit or pursuing litigation, that the City 

discriminated against the entity, individuals whom the entity supports, or the 

individual(s), in violation of their civil rights. Ability Housing is therefore eligible to 

apply for, compete for, and to receive Jacksonville Journey and any other City funds 

1 In this Decree, the term “reasonable accommodation,” see 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(B), also includes 
“reasonable modification,” as used in the implementing regulation for Title II of the ADA, 28 C.F.R. § 
35.130(b)(7). 
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administered by the City, the Local Initiative Support Corporation (“LISC”), or by any 

other entity for which Ability Housing is otherwise qualified to receive notwithstanding 

its current litigation with the City in Case No. 3:15-CV-1380 and Case No. 2014-CA-

8148 in the Circuit Court, Fourth Judicial District, in and for Duval County, Florida.  

12.  As stipulated in the Private Settlement Agreement, on __________[BY 

APRIL 30, 2017, OR SUCH LATER DATE AS AGREED UPON BY THE CITY AND 

THE UNITED STATES], the City amended its Zoning Code, Chapter 656 of the City of 

Jacksonville Ordinance Code, by passing Ordinance No. ________, which appears in 

Appendix B [ORDINANCE MUST BE SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR TO THE 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE]. Among other changes, these amendments make clear that 

the permanent supportive housing at issue in the Complaint is properly characterized as a 

multiple-dwelling use and is permitted wherever multiple-family dwellings are permitted. 

The amendments generally include changes to the following: 

a. Part 1 (General Provisions), Subpart A (Basic Provisions) to recognize and 

require construction of the Zoning Code consistent with civil rights laws; 

b. Part 1 (General Provisions), Subpart B (Administration) to create a 

procedure for persons with disabilities to request reasonable 

accommodations from provisions of the Zoning Code; 

c. Part 3 (Schedule of District Regulations), Subpart F (Planned Unit 

Development) to prohibit the use of planned unit developments to 

discriminate or violate civil rights; 

Third Revised Exhibit 1 
3rd Rev Agmt 

May 23, 2017 - Floor 
Page 6 of 60



d. Part 3 (Schedule of District Regulations), Subpart I (Springfield Zoning 

Overlay and Historic District Regulations) to remove prohibitions on 

housing for people with disabilities, allow group care homes by exception 

in the RMD-S district, and to allow residential treatment facilities as 

allowable uses by exception in the CCG-S district; and 

e. Part 16 (Definitions) to amend definitions to make clear that the 

permanent supportive housing at issue in the Complaint is properly 

characterized as a multiple-dwelling use and is permitted wherever 

multiple-family dwellings are permitted; to add definitions for supportive 

services and reasonable accommodations; and to ensure that the 

definitions reflect that a resident’s receipt of supportive services in a 

dwelling unit does not change the dwelling unit into another type of use.  

REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION POLICY 

13. As stipulated in the Private Settlement Agreement and referenced in 

Paragraph 12(b), the City has amended its Zoning Code to authorize its Zoning 

Administrator to grant “administrative deviations,” as described in Section 656.109 of the 

City’s Zoning Code, for reasonable accommodation requests. See Appendix B. Within 

sixty (60) days of the entry of this Decree, the City shall also submit to the United States 

a written policy that details the process by which persons may request reasonable 

accommodations or modifications on the basis of disability from the City’s zoning, land 

use, and code requirements (“Reasonable Accommodation Policy” or “Policy”). Prior to 
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its implementation, the Policy must be approved by the United States. The Policy shall 

comply with the FHA and the ADA and shall include the following provisions: 

a. The City shall provide a description of where and how the City will accept 

and process requests for accommodations in its rules, policies, practices, 

or in the provision of its services; 

b. The City shall acknowledge all requests for reasonable accommodations, 

in writing, within fifteen (15) days of the City’s receipt of an oral or 

written request; 

c. The City shall provide written notification to those requesting a reasonable 

accommodation of the decision regarding their request for accommodation 

within thirty (30) days of the receipt of the request; if the City denies a 

request, it shall include an explanation of the basis for such denial in this 

written notification; 

d. The City shall retain records of all oral and written reasonable 

accommodation and modification requests, and the City’s responses 

thereto, including (i) the name, address, and telephone number of the 

person making the request; (ii) the date on which the request was received; 

(iii) the nature of the request; and (iv) the final written decision regarding 

the request; and 

e. The City shall not impose any fees or costs for requesting a reasonable 

accommodation or modification, or otherwise retaliate against any person 
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who has exercised his or her right under the Fair Housing Act to make one 

or more reasonable accommodation requests. 

14. Within ten (10) days of the approval of the Reasonable Accommodation 

Policy by the United States and throughout the term of this Decree, the City shall 

implement the Policy. The City shall post and publicly display the Policy on the City’s 

website, and at the offices of the City with responsibility for administration and 

enforcement of the City’s zoning, land use, and code requirements. 

COMPLIANCE OFFICER 

15. Within thirty (30) days of the entry of this Decree, the City shall designate an 

individual as the Fair Housing Compliance Officer (“FHCO”). The FHCO shall have the 

responsibility to receive complaints of alleged housing discrimination and disability 

discrimination against the City; serve as a resource to the City and its officers, elected 

and appointed officials, employees, and agents on fair housing and disability rights; and 

in consultation with the City’s attorneys, the Office of General Counsel, coordinate the 

City’s compliance with this Decree. 

16. The FHCO shall be designated to receive and review all complaints of 

housing discrimination and disability discrimination made against the City or any officer, 

elected or appointed official, employee, or agent of the City. If complaints are made 

verbally, the FHCO shall make a contemporaneous written record of those complaints. 

17. The FHCO shall maintain copies of this Decree, the Reasonable 

Accommodation Policy, and the HUD Complaint form and HUD pamphlet entitled “Are 

you a victim of housing discrimination?” (HUD official forms 903 and 903.1, 

Third Revised Exhibit 1 
3rd Rev Agmt 

May 23, 2017 - Floor 
Page 9 of 60



respectively) and make these materials available to anyone, upon request, without charge, 

including all persons making fair housing complaints to the FHCO. 

18. The FHCO shall report to the City every three months on activities taken in 

compliance with this Decree. 

FAIR HOUSING AND ADA TRAINING 

19. Within ninety (90) days of the entry of this Decree, the City shall provide 

training(s) on the requirements of the Decree, the FHA (in particular, those provisions 

that relate to disability discrimination), and the ADA (in particular, the ADA’s 

application to zoning). The training(s) shall be provided to all City officers, elected and 

appointed officials, and employees who have duties related to the planning, zoning, 

permitting, construction, code enforcement, or occupancy of residential housing, 

including but not limited to professional staff and employees of the Planning and 

Development Department, the Mayor and members of the City Council, and members of 

the Planning Commission and Certificate of Use Board. The training(s) shall be 

conducted in accordance with the following: 

a. The training(s) shall be conducted by a qualified third party or parties, 

subject to the approval of the United States. The trainer(s) shall not be 

connected to the City or its officers, elected or appointed officials, 

employees, agents or counsel. No fewer than sixty (60) days before the 

date of each training under this Paragraph, the City shall submit to counsel 

for the United States the name of the person(s) or organization(s) proposed 

to provide the training, together with copies of the professional 
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qualifications of such person(s) or organization(s), and copies of all 

materials to be used in the training. 

b. Any expenses associated with the training(s) shall be borne by the City. 

c. The training(s) shall be video-recorded and the City shall maintain copies 

of the written materials provided for each training. Each newly elected, 

appointed, or hired individual covered by this Paragraph shall first receive 

training within thirty (30) days after the date he or she enters office or 

commences service or employment, either (1) by attending the next 

regularly scheduled live training, if it occurs within the thirty (30) day 

period, or (2) by viewing the video recording of the most recent live 

training and receiving copies of any written materials provided for that 

training. 

d. The City shall provide a copy of this Decree to each person required to 

receive the training(s). 

20. The City shall require each trainee to execute a certification confirming: (i) 

the trainee’s attendance; (ii) the date of the training; and (iii) the trainee’s receipt and 

comprehension of the Decree. The Certification of Training and Receipt of Consent 

Decree appears as Appendix C to this Decree. All trainees shall complete the 

certifications at the conclusion of each training session. 

REPORTING AND RECORDKEEPING 
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21. Within one hundred (100) days of the entry of this Decree, the City shall 

submit all executed copies of the Certification of Training and Receipt of Consent Decree 

(Appendix C) described in Paragraph 20.2 

22. The City shall prepare compliance reports twice annually detailing all actions 

the City has taken to fulfill its obligations under this Decree since the last compliance 

report. The City shall submit its first report to the United States within six (6) months of 

entry of the Decree, and subsequent reports every six (6) months thereafter for the 

duration of the Decree, except that the final report shall be delivered to the United States 

not less than sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of this Decree. The City shall include 

in the compliance reports, at a minimum, the following information: 

a. The name, address, and title of the employee or official serving as the Fair 

Housing Compliance Officer referred to in Paragraph 15; 

b. A summary of each zoning or land-use request or application, including 

requests for reasonable accommodations, related to housing for persons 

with disabilities, indicating: (i) the date of the application; (ii) the 

applicant’s name; (iii) the applicant’s current street address; (iv) the street 

address of the subject property or proposed housing; (v) the City’s 

decision(s) regarding the matter, including any decision on appeal; (vi) the 

2 The City shall send all documents, notices, and other communications required by the Decree to be sent to 
the United States via regular U.S. mail to: 

Chief, Housing and Civil Enforcement Section 
Civil Rights Division 
United States Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Ave., NW – G Street 
Washington, DC 20530 
Attn: DJ# 175-17M-513 
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reasons for each decision, including a summary of the facts upon which 

the City relied; and (vii) complete copies of any minutes and audio or 

video recordings from all meetings or hearings discussing the zoning 

request or application; 

c. Copies of any Certifications of Training and Receipt of Consent Decree 

(Appendix C) described in Paragraph 20, above, that are signed after the 

preceding compliance report was issued; and 

d. Any complaints of housing discrimination or disability discrimination by 

the City, either received by the FHCO pursuant to Paragraph 16 or by 

another City employee or official, including a copy of the complaint, any 

documents filed with the complaint, and any written response to the 

complaint by the City. If the complaint has not been resolved, the City 

shall report any efforts the City undertook or plans to undertake to resolve 

the complaint. 

23. Within thirty (30) days of adopting any amendments or modifications to the 

Zoning Code or to other City rules, laws, or ordinances that may detrimentally or directly 

affect housing for persons with disabilities, the City shall send copies of the enacted 

amendments or modifications to the United States. Any amendment or modification must 

be consistent with Paragraph 12 of this Decree. 

24. The City shall retain all records relating to any provision of this Decree. 

Counsel for the United States shall have the opportunity to inspect and copy any such 

records after giving reasonable notice to counsel for the City. 
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COMPENSATION OF AGGRIEVED PARTIES 

25. Within thirty (30) days of the City Council’s approval of the Private 

Settlement Agreement, the City shall pay Ability Housing and Disability Rights Florida 

the amounts agreed upon in the Private Settlement Agreement (Appendix A).  

26. As stipulated in the Private Settlement Agreement, within one (1) year of the 

Private Plaintiffs’ dismissal of their cases (Case Nos. 3:15-CV-1380 and 3:15-CV-1411), 

the City shall establish and award a 1.5 million dollar ($1,500,000) grant for the 

development of Permanent Supportive Housing within the City for persons with 

disabilities. The grant shall be awarded to a qualified developer through a competitive 

grant process. Ability Housing shall be eligible to participate in the grant process and to 

receive some or all of the grant award.  

CIVIL PENALTY 

27. Within ten (10) days of the entry of this Decree, the City shall pay twenty-five 

thousand dollars ($25,000) to the United States Treasury as a civil penalty pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. § 3614(d)(1)(C) to vindicate the public interest. The payment shall be in the form 

of an electronic fund transfer pursuant to written instructions to be provided by the 

United States. 

28. In the event that the City, its agents, or its employees engage in any future 

violation(s) of the FHA, such violation(s) shall constitute a “subsequent violation” under 

42 U.S.C. § 3614(d)(1)(C)(ii). 

DURATION 
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29. This Decree shall remain in effect for a period of five (5) years after its entry. 

The Court shall retain jurisdiction over the action for the duration of the Decree for the 

purpose of enforcing its provisions and terms. The United States may move the Court to 

extend the duration of the Decree in the interests of justice. 

30. Any time limits for performance imposed by this Decree may be extended by 

mutual written agreement of the parties.  

ENFORCEMENT 

31. The parties shall endeavor in good faith to resolve informally any differences 

regarding interpretation of and compliance with this Decree prior to bringing such 

matters to the Court for resolution. However, in the event of a failure by the City to 

perform in a timely manner any act required by this Decree or otherwise to act in 

conformance with any provisions thereof, the United States may move this Court to 

impose any remedy authorized by law or equity. Remedies include, but are not limited to, 

findings of contempt, an order requiring performance of such act or deeming such act to 

have been performed, and an award of any damages, costs, and reasonable attorneys’ fees 

that may have been occasioned by the violation or failure to perform. 

COSTS AND FEES 

32. The parties will bear their own costs and fees associated with this litigation. 

TERMINATION OF LITIGATION HOLD 

33. The parties agree that, as of the date of the entry of this Consent Decree, 

litigation is not “reasonably foreseeable” concerning the matters described above. To the 

extent that either party previously implemented a litigation hold to preserve documents, 
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electronically stored information (ESI), or things related to the matters described above, 

the party is no longer required to maintain such litigation hold. Nothing in this Paragraph 

relieves either party of any other obligations imposed by this Consent Decree. 

DONE AND ORDERED at Jacksonville, Florida this ______ day of 

____________________, 2017. 

 

           
    ________________________________________ 

     TIMOTHY J. CORRIGAN 
United States District Judge 
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For Plaintiff United States: 

 
Dated:  
 

 
 

A. LEE BENTLEY, III VANITA GUPTA 
United States Attorney Principal Deputy Attorney General 
Middle District of Florida Civil Rights Division 
 
 ___________________ SAMEENA SHINA MAJEED 
YOHANCE A. PETTIS Chief 
Fla. Bar No. 021216  
Assistant United States Attorney  
United States Attorney’s Office ___________________ 
Middle District of Florida MICHAEL S. MAURER 
400 North Tampa Street, Suite 3200 Deputy Chief 
Tampa, FL 33602 ABIGAIL B. MARSHAK 
Phone: (813) 274-6000 NY Reg. No. 5350053  
Fax: (813) 274-6198 Trial Attorney 
Yohance.Pettis@usdoj.gov U.S. Department of Justice 
 Civil Rights Division 
 Housing and Civil Enforcement Section  

950 Pennsylvania Avenue NW – G St. 
Washington, DC 20530 
Phone: (202) 514-1968 
Fax: (202) 514-1116 
Abigail.Marshak@usdoj.gov 

 
 
For Defendant City of Jacksonville: 
 
 
Dated:  
 
By:____________________________________ 
 
 Its: _______________________________ 
 
Date:________________________________ 
 

_____________________________ 
Witness 
 
Print name:____________________ 
 
Date: ________________________ 
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APPENDIX A 

[Private Settlement Agreement]
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APPENDIX B 

[Ordinance]
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Introduced by the Council President at the request of the Office of 1 

General Counsel substituted by the Land Use and Zoning Committee 2 

and amended on the Floor by Council:    3 

 4 

 5 

ORDINANCE 2017-36-E 6 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 656, (ZONING 7 

CODE), PART 1 (GENERAL PROVISIONS), SUBPART A 8 

(BASIC PROVISIONS), SECTION 656.107 9 

(CONFLICTING PROVISIONS), ORDINANCE CODE, TO 10 

STATE THE INTENT OF THE CITY THAT ALL 11 

REGULATIONS OF THE ZONING CODE BE APPLIED TO 12 

PROTECT CIVIL RIGHTS; AMENDING CHAPTER 656, 13 

(ZONING CODE), PART 1 (GENERAL PROVISIONS), 14 

SUBPART B (ADMINISTRATION), SECTION 656.112 15 

(RESERVED) TO CREATE A NEW SECTION 656.112 16 

(REASONABLE ACCOMMODATIONS FOR DISABLED 17 

PERSONS), ORDINANCE CODE, TO CREATE A 18 

PROCEDURE FOR DISABLED PERSONS TO REQUEST 19 

REASONABLE ACCOMMODATIONS FROM PROVISIONS OF 20 

THE ZONING CODE; AMENDING CHAPTER 656 (ZONING 21 

CODE), PART 3 (SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT 22 

REGULATIONS), SUBPART F (PLANNED UNIT 23 

DEVELOPMENT), SECTION 656.340 (PLANNED UNIT 24 

DEVELOPMENT - PUD), ORDINANCE CODE,  TO 25 

PROHIBIT USE OF PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT TO 26 

DISCRIMINATE OR VIOLATE CIVIL RIGHTS; AMENDING 27 

CHAPTER 656 (ZONING CODE), PART 3 (SCHEDULE OF 28 

DISTRICT REGULATIONS), SUBPART I (SPRINGFIELD 29 

ZONING OVERLAY AND HISTORIC DISTRICT 30 
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REGULATIONS), SECTION 656.365 (LEGISLATIVE 1 

FINDINGS AND INTENT), ORDINANCE CODE,  TO 2 

REMOVE THE REFERENCE TO THE NUMBER OF GROUP 3 

CARE HOMES AND COMMUNITY RESIDENTIAL HOMES 4 

WITHIN THE DISTRICT; AMENDING CHAPTER 656 5 

(ZONING CODE), PART 3 (SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT 6 

REGULATIONS), SUBPART I (SPRINGFIELD ZONING 7 

OVERLAY AND HISTORIC DISTRICT REGULATIONS), 8 

SECTION 656.368 (SPRINGFIELD HISTORIC ZONING 9 

DISTRICTS), ORDINANCE CODE, TO REMOVE 10 

REFERENCE TO “SPECIAL USES,” PROHIBIT NEW 11 

ROOMING HOUSES IN THE OVERLAY DISTRICTS, TO 12 

CREATE PROCEDURES FOR EXISTING ROOMING HOUSES, 13 

TO ALLOW BY EXCEPTION IN THE RMD-S DISTRICT 14 

GROUP CARE HOMES, TO ALLOW BY EXCEPTION IN THE 15 

CCG-S DISTRICT RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT 16 

FACILITIES FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES AND 17 

EMERGENCY SHELTERS, AND TO REQUIRE CERTAIN 18 

OTHER USES TO MEET THE STANDARDS OF PART 4 OF 19 

THE ZONING CODE; AMENDING CHAPTER 656 (ZONING 20 

CODE), PART 3 (SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT 21 

REGULATIONS), SUBPART I (SPRINGFIELD ZONING 22 

OVERLAY AND HISTORIC DISTRICT REGULATIONS), 23 

SECTION 656.369, ORDINANCE CODE, TO REQUIRE 24 

LICENSURE OF EXISTING PROHIBITED USES AND 25 

REMOVE REFERENCE TO “SPECIAL USES”; AMENDING 26 

CHAPTER 656 (ZONING CODE), PART 16 27 

(DEFINITIONS), SECTION 656.1601 (DEFINITIONS), 28 

ORDINANCE CODE,  TO AMEND DEFINITIONS OF 29 

COMMUNITY RESIDENTIAL HOME, DWELLING, 30 
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MULTIPLE-DWELLING USE, DWELLING, ONE-FAMILY OR 1 

SINGLE-FAMILY, DWELLING UNIT, GROUP CARE HOME, 2 

RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT FACILITY, AND ROOMING 3 

HOUSES, ADDING DEFINITIONS FOR DISABLED 4 

PERSON, REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION, AND 5 

SUPPORTIVE SERVICES; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 6 

DATE.  7 

 8 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Jacksonville: 9 

Section 1.  Amending Section 656.107 (Conflicting 10 

provisions), Ordinance Code. Chapter 656 (Zoning Code), Part 1 11 

(Supplementary Regulations), Subpart A (Basic Provisions), Section 12 

656.107 (Conflicting provisions), Ordinance Code, is hereby amended 13 

to read as follows: 14 

 15 

CHAPTER 656.  ZONING CODE 16 

PART 1. SUPPLEMENTARY REGULATIONS 17 

SUBPART A.  BASIC PROVISIONS  18 

* * * 19 

 Sec. 656.107. – Conflicting provisions; protection of civil 20 

rights. 21 

 (a) It is not the intent of the provisions of the Zoning Code 22 

to interfere with or abrogate or annul any easement, covenant or 23 

other agreement between parties; provided, however, that when the 24 

regulations of the Zoning Code impose a greater restriction upon 25 

the use of buildings or land, or upon the height of buildings, or 26 

require larger open spaces than are imposed or required by other 27 

ordinances, rules, regulations or by easements, covenants or 28 

agreements, the provisions of this Chapter shall control. 29 
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 (b) It is the intent of the City that all regulations of the 1 

Zoning Code be applied and interpreted so as to protect and be 2 

consistent with civil rights recognized by the U.S. and Florida 3 

Constitutions, ordinances and laws, including the Jacksonville Fair 4 

Housing Ordinance, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the U.S. Fair 5 

Housing Act, the U.S. Civil Rights Acts of 1964 and 1968, the 6 

Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act of 2000, and 7 

the Americans with Disabilities Act as such laws may be amended 8 

from time to time.  Employees of the Planning and Development 9 

Department, including the Planning Director, employees of the 10 

Office of the General Counsel, and the Planning Commission are 11 

directed to avoid any and all interpretations or applications of 12 

the Zoning Code which would unlawfully infringe upon the civil 13 

rights of any person.   14 

* * * 15 

 Section 2.  Amending Section 656.112 (Reserved), Ordinance 16 

Code. Chapter 656 (Zoning Code), Part 1 (Supplementary 17 

Regulations), Subpart B (Administration), Section 656.112 18 

(Reserved), Ordinance Code, is hereby amended to read as follows:  19 

CHAPTER 656.  ZONING CODE 20 

PART 1. SUPPLEMENTARY REGULATIONS 21 

* * * 22 

SUBPART B.  ADMINISTRATION 23 

 Sec. 656.112 Reserved. Reasonable Accommodations for Disabled 24 

Persons. 25 

  (a) Intent.  A reasonable accommodation to the Zoning Code 26 

may be requested to allow a disabled person, as that term is 27 

recognized by federal, state or local law, to use and enjoy a 28 

dwelling.  A reasonable accommodation process is necessary because 29 

in some instances certain standards found in the Zoning Code, if 30 
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strictly applied, would inhibit the use of a dwelling due to a 1 

person’s disability.  As such, the City needs a formal process 2 

whereby a disabled individual, or individuals, or a person, entity 3 

or group on behalf of a disabled individual or individuals, may 4 

make a request for a reasonable accommodation (“Request for a 5 

Reasonable Accommodation”) and seek relief from a particular zoning 6 

standard in order to afford them an equal opportunity to legally 7 

use and enjoy a dwelling.  Accommodations must be considered on an 8 

individual basis because the nature and extent of a disability and 9 

the requirements of the Zoning Code will vary in each case. If an 10 

individual does not request an accommodation, the City is not 11 

obligated to provide one except where an individual's known 12 

disability impairs his/her ability to know of, or effectively 13 

communicate a need for, an accommodation that is made obvious to 14 

the City. The grant of a Request for a Reasonable Accommodation 15 

shall not be deemed to be a rezoning of property, or to allow uses 16 

that would otherwise require a zoning exception or waiver pursuant 17 

to Chapter 656, Ordinance Code.  18 

If the Request for a Reasonable Accommodation would constitute 19 

a request for a rezoning or zoning exception, then the person may 20 

make application for such rezoning or zoning exception in the same 21 

manner as other rezoning or zoning exception requests, however, the 22 

Request for Reasonable Accommodation criteria in Section 656.112, 23 

Ordinance Code, shall be considered in addition to the standard 24 

criteria for the request for rezoning or zoning exception, and 25 

there shall be no application fee or fee for notice applied to the 26 

request.   27 

 (b) Application process.   28 

(1) Requests for Reasonable Accommodations may be made 29 

orally or in writing to the Planning and Development 30 
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Department, which will assist the applicant with filling out 1 

the written application on a form prescribed by the 2 

Department. Said application form shall be developed in 3 

consultation with the Chief of Disabled Services for the City 4 

of Jacksonville, as defined in Chapter 28, Part 9, Ordinance 5 

Code. Such form shall instruct the applicant regarding what 6 

information is required from the applicant in order for the 7 

application to be deemed complete.   8 

(2) Upon receipt of the Request for Reasonable 9 

Accommodation application, the Planning Director shall notify 10 

the Chief of Disabled Services of the request and consult with 11 

the Chief to determine whether the application is complete 12 

within five (5) working days. If it is determined that the 13 

application is not complete, written notice shall be provided 14 

to the applicant within three (3) working days specifying the 15 

deficiencies. The Director shall take no further action on the 16 

application until the deficiencies are remedied.  17 

(3) No fees or costs may be imposed for Request for 18 

Reasonable Accommodation applications. 19 

(4) Unless barred by administrative res judicata, the 20 

time limitations in Sec. 656.125(d), Ordinance Code, do not 21 

apply to rezoning or zoning exception applications that also 22 

constitute Requests for Reasonable Accommodations.  23 

 (c) Department Decision.  The Director shall make the decision 24 

on the application based upon consultation with, and the written 25 

recommendation of, the Chief of Disabled Services.  The applicant 26 

may receive a decision by the Director with a hearing, or may elect 27 

to have the decision made by the Director without a hearing.  The 28 

Department shall inform the applicant of this option to receive a 29 

decision without a hearing at the time of his or her application.    30 
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(1) If the applicant chooses to have a hearing on the 1 

application, the Director shall schedule a hearing on the 2 

application on a date certain at least 14 days after notice is 3 

posted but within thirty (30) days after the application has 4 

been deemed complete.  The Director shall make a decision 5 

within 5 business days of the hearing.   6 

(2) If the applicant elects to receive a decision without 7 

a hearing, the Director shall establish the date of decision 8 

to be at least 14 days after notice is posted but within 9 

thirty (30) days after the application has been deemed 10 

complete. The Director shall make the decision on the date 11 

established.  12 

(3)  The Chief of Disabled Services shall provide the 13 

Director with a written recommendation on the applicant’s 14 

claimed disability at least five (5) business days prior to 15 

the date established for the decision by the Director, or the 16 

date of the hearing if one is scheduled to take place. 17 

(4) Persons wishing to provide competent, substantial 18 

evidence related to the application shall provide those 19 

comments in writing to the Director five (5) business days 20 

prior to the date established for the decision by the 21 

Director, or may provide such evidence before or at the 22 

hearing if one takes place.   23 

(5) The Director shall provide the applicant a written 24 

order including his/her decision within 10 days of the date of 25 

decision for both hearing and non-hearing proceedings.  Any 26 

order denying a Request for Reasonable Accommodation, or its 27 

conditional approval, shall include an explanation of the 28 

basis for such denial or conditional approval.     29 
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(d)  Notice.  Notice of Request for Reasonable Accommodation 1 

shall be given within three (3) days of the receipt of a complete 2 

application by the Department by posting signs on the subject 3 

property at intervals of not more than 200 feet along all street 4 

sides of property upon which the request is made. The signs shall 5 

indicate the request and information on how, and by when, 6 

participation is allowed. The Department shall also post notice at 7 

City Hall and the Planning and Development Department in the 8 

specified location for posted notices within three (3) days after 9 

receipt of a complete application.  No published advertisement 10 

shall be required.  The date of the hearing or the date established 11 

for the decision by the Director shall be specified in the notice.   12 

 (e)  Criteria.  In evaluating a Request for Reasonable 13 

Accommodation, the Director shall consider competent, substantial 14 

evidence relating to the following:  15 

(1)  whether the applicant meets the definition of a 16 

disabled person. The Director shall make this 17 

determination based upon consultation with, and the 18 

recommendation of, the Chief of Disabled Services;  19 

(2)  whether there is an identifiable relationship, or 20 

nexus, between the requested accommodation and the 21 

person’s needs;   22 

(3) whether a sufficient alternative to the specific 23 

initial request exists, if the initial request is 24 

determined to be not reasonable;  25 

(4)  whether granting this request would change the 26 

essential nature of the Zoning Code as compared to 27 

strict application of the code to the circumstances 28 

of the request; and 29 

Third Revised Exhibit 1 
3rd Rev Agmt 

May 23, 2017 - Floor 
Page 38 of 60



(5)  whether the request would impose undue financial and 1 

administrative burdens on the City.  2 

 3 

It is the City's intent that reasonable accommodations be 4 

granted where required by federal law. If the Director, based upon 5 

the Chief of Disabled Services’ recommendation regarding the 6 

applicant’s claimed disability, determines that the specific 7 

request is not reasonable, he/she shall offer, where possible, some 8 

other accommodation which would meet the requester's needs.  No 9 

additional standards of review of Requests for Reasonable 10 

Accommodation are required.  In making this determination, it shall 11 

not be a factor whether there are other neighborhoods or dwellings 12 

that could accommodate the person.    13 

The Director and Chief of Disabled Services are entitled to 14 

obtain information that is necessary to evaluate if a requested 15 

reasonable accommodation may be necessary because of a disability.  16 

If a person’s disability is obvious, or otherwise known to the 17 

Director or Chief, and if the need for the requested accommodation 18 

is also readily apparent or known, then the Director or Chief may 19 

not request any additional information about the applicant’s 20 

disability or the disability-related need for the accommodation.  21 

However, if the applicant’s disability is known or readily apparent 22 

to the Director or Chief, but the need for the accommodation is not 23 

readily apparent or known, the Director may request only 24 

information that is necessary to evaluate the disability-related 25 

need for the accommodation.  The Director or Chief may not 26 

ordinarily inquire as to the nature and severity of an individual’s 27 

disability, however, the Director or Chief may request reliable 28 

disability-related information that: (1) is necessary to verify 29 

that the person meets the Fair Housing Act and Americans with 30 
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Disability Act’s definition of “disability”, (2) describes the 1 

needed accommodation, and (3) shows the relationship between the 2 

person’s disability and the need for the requested accommodation.  3 

Depending on the individual’s circumstances, information verifying 4 

that the person meets the Act’s definition of disability can 5 

usually be provided by the individual, but also may come from a 6 

doctor or medical professional, a peer support group, a non-medical 7 

service agency, or a reliable third party who is in a position to 8 

know about the individual’s disability.  Once the Director, based 9 

upon consultation with and the written recommendation of the Chief, 10 

has established that the applicant meets the definition of a 11 

disabled person, the Director should seek only the information 12 

necessary to evaluate if the request is needed because of a 13 

disability. 14 

 (f) Term of accommodation.  Requests for Reasonable 15 

Accommodations shall be personal to the applicant and shall not run 16 

with the land, and shall only remain in place for as long as the 17 

applicant’s need for the request exists or remains.  It shall be 18 

the responsibility of the property owner to remove or correct any 19 

non-conforming zoning code standard authorized in an approved 20 

Request for Reasonable Accommodation once the need for the 21 

accommodation ends.  22 

(g) Appeal.  Decisions on Requests for Reasonable 23 

Accommodation are appealable to the City Council pursuant to the 24 

procedures identified in sections 656.140-145.  The Council's 25 

review of the appeal shall be limited to a consideration of whether 26 

the Request for Reasonable Accommodation criteria were properly 27 

considered and applied, taking all laws, ordinances and other 28 

judicial or legal guidance into consideration, and whether 29 

sufficient alternatives were evaluated. 30 
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Section 3.  Amending Section 656.340, (Planned Unit 1 

Development -- PUD), Ordinance Code.  Chapter 656, (Zoning Code), 2 

Part 3 (Schedule of District Regulations), Subpart F (Planned Unit 3 

Development), Section 656.340 (Planned Unit Development -- PUD), 4 

Ordinance Code, is hereby amended to read as follows: 5 

CHAPTER 656.  ZONING CODE 6 

* * * 7 

PART 3. SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT REGULATIONS 8 

* * * 9 

SUBPART F.  PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 10 

 Sec. 656.340.  Planned Unit Development -- PUD. 11 

It is the intent and purpose of this district that Planned Unit 12 

Developments, both large scale, which consists of five acres or 13 

more, and small scale, which consists of less than five acres, be 14 

utilized to create living environments that are responsive to the 15 

needs of their inhabitants; to provide flexibility in planning, 16 

design and development; to encourage innovative approaches to the 17 

design of community environments; to encourage the fulfillment of 18 

housing needs appropriate to various lifestyles and income levels; 19 

to encourage the integration of different housing types within a 20 

development; provide an opportunity for new approaches to 21 

ownership; to provide for an efficient use of land; to provide an 22 

environment compatible with surrounding land use; to adapt the 23 

zoning process to changes in construction and development 24 

technology; to encourage the preservation of the natural site 25 

features; to provide community environments that are so designed 26 

and located as to be an integral part of the total ecosystem; to 27 

encourage the design of communities and structures adapted to the 28 

local climate; thereby promoting the public health, safety, morals, 29 

order, comfort, convenience, appearance, prosperity, and general 30 
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welfare of the City of Jacksonville. It is further intended that 1 

the Planned Unit Development district may be utilized to implement 2 

the Comprehensive Plan. It is not the intent to utilize the Planned 3 

Unit Development district solely to diminish the usual application 4 

of the provisions of the Zoning Code.  The Planned Unit Development 5 

district process shall not be used to discriminate against or 6 

otherwise violate civil rights of the existing or future residents, 7 

users or occupants of the PUD.  The rights of people with 8 

disabilities to access and use housing in the form of dwelling 9 

units, community residential homes or group homes shall not be more 10 

restrictive in a PUD than in equivalent conventional zoning 11 

districts. 12 

* * * 13 

Section 4.  Amending Section 656.365, (Legislative 14 

findings and intent), Ordinance Code.  Chapter 656, (Zoning Code), 15 

Part 3 (Schedule of District Regulations), Subpart I (Springfield 16 

Zoning Overlay and Historic District Regulations), Section 656.365 17 

(Legislative findings and intent), Ordinance Code, is hereby 18 

amended to read as follows: 19 

CHAPTER 656.  ZONING CODE 20 

* * * 21 

PART 3. SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT REGULATIONS 22 

* * * 23 

SUBPART I.  SPRINGFIELD ZONING OVERLAY AND HISTORIC DISTRICT 24 

REGULATIONS 25 

 Sec. 656.365.  Legislative findings and intent. 26 

The Council hereby finds and determines as follows: 27 

* * * 28 

(e)  Within the one square mile area of the Springfield 29 

Historic District, the Council finds there is a disproportionately 30 
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large number of rooming houses (thirteen), group care homes, 1 

community residential homes of seven or more residents and 2 

automotive uses (twenty), including automotive sales and repairs 3 

and related automotive uses. 4 

* * * 5 

Section 5.  Amending Section 656.368, (Springfield 6 

Historic Zoning Districts), Ordinance Code.  Chapter 656, (Zoning 7 

Code), Part 3 (Schedule of District Regulations), Subpart I 8 

(Springfield Zoning Overlay and Historic District Regulations), 9 

Section 656.368 (Springfield Historic Zoning Districts), Ordinance 10 

Code, is hereby amended to read as follows: 11 

CHAPTER 656.  ZONING CODE 12 

* * * 13 

PART 3. SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT REGULATIONS 14 

* * * 15 

SUBPART I.  SPRINGFIELD ZONING OVERLAY AND HISTORIC DISTRICT 16 

REGULATIONS 17 

* * * 18 

Sec. 656.368.  Springfield Historic Zoning Districts. 19 

  Springfield Historic Districts include the following: 20 

 I. Residential Medium Density-Springfield (RMD-S) District. 21 

 (a) Permitted uses and structures. 22 

* * * 23 

(5)  Community residential homes of six or fewer 24 

residents meeting the performance standards and 25 

development criteria set forth in Part 4 of the 26 

Zoning Code and the special use criteria set forth 27 

in Section 656.369. 28 

(6)  Housing for the elderly meeting the performance 29 

standards and development criteria set forth in Part 30 
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4 of the Zoning Code, if applicable. meeting the 1 

criteria for special uses set forth in Section 2 

656.369. 3 

* * * 4 

 (c) Permissible uses by exception. 5 

* * * 6 

(5)  Nursing homes meeting the performance standards and 7 

development criteria set forth in Part 4 of the 8 

Zoning Code, if applicable. meeting the criteria for 9 

special uses set forth in Section 656.369. 10 

* * * 11 

(10)  Group care homes, meeting the performance standards 12 

and development criteria set forth in Part 4, if 13 

applicable. 14 

(d)  Prohibited uses. Special uses. Special uses include 15 

residential treatment facilities, rooming houses, emergency shelter 16 

homes, group care homes, and community residential homes of over 17 

six residents. New special uses New rooming houses are not allowed 18 

in the district and existing rooming houses special uses must 19 

conform to the standards set forth in Section 656.369(gf). 20 

(e)  Those uses that were considered legally nonconforming 21 

special uses pursuant to Ord. 2000-302-E, § 1 and Ord. 2007-1046-E, 22 

§§ 1, 2, that existed prior to December 21, 2000, the effective 23 

date of Ord. 2000-302-E, § 1, are permitted as of right if such use 24 

is authorized in the property’s underlying zoning district. Except 25 

where otherwise permitted as of right or by a validly issued 26 

exception, such properties shall not expand their square footage, 27 

relocate, or increase the number of non-staff residents, and, if 28 

the use ceases for six (6) consecutive months, the property shall 29 

comply with all current zoning requirements. 30 
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[Reletter the remaining subsections accordingly.] 1 

* * * 2 

 II. Commercial, Residential and Office-Springfield (CRO-S) 3 

District. 4 

 (a) Permitted uses and structures. 5 

* * * 6 

(14) Homes for the aged or orphans and similar uses, 7 

meeting the performance standards and development 8 

criteria set forth in Part 4 of the Zoning Code, if 9 

applicable.meeting the criteria for special uses set 10 

forth in Section 656.369.  11 

* * * 12 

(23)  Community residential homes of up to six residents 13 

meeting the performance standards and development 14 

criteria set forth in Part 4 of the Zoning Code, if 15 

applicable, and criteria for special uses set forth 16 

in Section 656.369. 17 

(24) Hospice facilities, meeting the performance 18 

standards and development criteria set forth in Part 19 

4 of the Zoning Code, if applicable. meeting the 20 

criteria for special uses set forth in Section 21 

656.369.  22 

* * * 23 

(d) Permissible uses by exception.  24 

* * * 25 

(5)  Nursing homes, meeting the performance standards and 26 

development criteria set forth in Part 4 of the 27 

Zoning Code, if applicable. meeting the special uses 28 

criteria set forth in Section 656.369. 29 
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(6)  Group care homes meeting the performance standards 1 

and development criteria set forth in Part 4 of the 2 

Zoning Code, if applicable, and the special use 3 

criteria set forth in Section 656.369. 4 

(7)  Housing for the elderly, meeting the performance 5 

standards and development criteria set forth in Part 6 

4 of the Zoning Code, if applicable. meeting the 7 

special use criteria set forth in Section 8 

656.369(g). 9 

(8)  Essential services, including water, sewer, gas, 10 

telephone, radio, television and electric, meeting 11 

the performance standards and development criteria 12 

set forth in Part 4 of the Zoning Code. 13 

(9)  Day care centers meeting the performance standards 14 

and development criteria set forth in Part 4 of the 15 

 Zoning Code, if applicable., and the 16 

Springfield performance standards and development 17 

criteria set forth in Section 656.369. 18 

* * * 19 

(e) Prohibited uses.Special uses. Special uses include 20 

residential treatment facilities, rooming houses, emergency shelter 21 

homes, group care homes, and community residential homes of over 22 

six residents. New special uses New rooming houses are not allowed 23 

in the districts and existing uses must conform to the standards 24 

for special usesrooming houses in Section 656.369(gf). 25 

(f) Those uses that were considered legally nonconforming 26 

special uses pursuant to Ord. 2000-302-E, § 1 and Ord. 2007-1046-E, 27 

§§ 1, 2, that existed prior to December 21, 2000, the effective 28 

date of Ord. 2000-302-E, § 1, are permitted as of right if such use 29 

is authorized in the property’s underlying zoning district. Except 30 
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where otherwise permitted as of right or by a validly issued 1 

exception, such properties shall not expand their square footage, 2 

relocate, or increase the number of non-staff residents, and, if 3 

the use ceases for six (6) consecutive months, the property shall 4 

comply with all current zoning requirements. 5 

[Reletter the remaining subsections accordingly.] 6 

* * * 7 

 III. Commercial Neighborhood Springfield (CN-S) District. This 8 

zoning district is designed to accommodate existing historic 9 

neighborhood original use commercial properties and new 10 

neighborhood commercial uses that are compatible with the 11 

residential character of the neighborhood. Properties with original 12 

use and historic use neighborhood commercial structures do not have 13 

to meet lot, yard, and lot coverage requirements. 14 

  15 

* * * 16 

(d) Prohibited uses. Special uses. Special uses include 17 

residential treatment facilities, rooming houses, emergency shelter 18 

homes, group care homes, and community residential homes of over 19 

six residents. New rooming houses special uses are not allowed in 20 

the districts and existing rooming houses special uses must conform 21 

to standards for rooming houses special uses in Section 22 

656.369(gf). 23 

(e) Those uses that were considered legally nonconforming 24 

special uses pursuant to Ord. 2000-302-E, § 1 and Ord. 2007-1046-E, 25 

§§ 1, 2, that existed prior to December 21, 2000, the effective 26 

date of Ord. 2000-302-E, § 1, are permitted as of right if such use 27 

is authorized in the property’s underlying zoning district. Except 28 

where otherwise permitted as of right or by a validly issued 29 

exception, such properties shall not expand their square footage, 30 
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relocate, or increase the number of non-staff residents, and, if 1 

the use ceases for six (6) consecutive months, the property shall 2 

comply with all current zoning requirements. 3 

* * * 4 

IV. Commercial Community/General-Springfield (CCG-S) District. 5 

* * * 6 

 (c) Permissible uses by exception. 7 

* * * 8 

(11)  Residential treatment facilities for persons with 9 

disabilities, meeting the performance standards and 10 

development criteria set forth in Part 4 of the 11 

Zoning Code, if applicable. 12 

(12) Emergency shelter homes, meeting the performance 13 

standards and development criteria set forth in Part 14 

4 of the Zoning Code, if applicable. 15 

 (d) Intensive uses. 16 

(1)  Prohibited usesSpecial uses. Special uses include 17 

residential treatment facilities, rooming houses, 18 

emergency shelter homes, group care homes, community 19 

residential homes of seven or more residents. New 20 

rooming houses special uses are not allowed in the 21 

districts and existing uses must conform to 22 

standards for rooming houses special uses in Section 23 

656.369(f). 24 

* * * 25 

 (e)  Those uses that were considered legally nonconforming 26 

special uses pursuant to Ord. 2000-302-E, § 1 and Ord. 2007-1046-E, 27 

§§ 1, 2, that existed prior to December 21, 2000, the effective 28 

date of Ord. 2000-302-E, § 1, are permitted as of right if such use 29 

is authorized in the property’s underlying zoning district. Except 30 

Third Revised Exhibit 1 
3rd Rev Agmt 

May 23, 2017 - Floor 
Page 48 of 60



where otherwise permitted as of right or by a validly issued 1 

exception, such properties shall not expand their square footage, 2 

relocate, or increase the number of non-staff residents, and, if 3 

the use ceases for six (6) consecutive months, the property shall 4 

comply with all current zoning requirements. 5 

[Reletter the remaining subsections accordingly.] 6 

* * * 7 

Section 5.  Amending Section 656.369, (Springfield 8 

performance standards and development criteria), Ordinance Code.  9 

Chapter 656, (Zoning Code), Part 3 (Schedule of District 10 

Regulations),  Subpart I (Springfield Zoning Overlay and Historic 11 

District Regulations), Section 656.369 (Legislative findings and 12 

intent), Ordinance Code, is hereby amended to read as follows: 13 

CHAPTER 656.  ZONING CODE 14 

* * * 15 

PART 3. SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT REGULATIONS 16 

* * * 17 

SUBPART I.  SPRINGFIELD ZONING OVERLAY AND HISTORIC DISTRICT 18 

REGULATIONS 19 

* * * 20 

Sec. 656.369. – Springfield performance standards and development 21 

criteria.   22 

 The following permitted uses or permissible uses by exception 23 

shall meet the performance standards and criteria listed under each 24 

use.  These uses are in addition to, rather than in lieu of, the 25 

supplementary regulations of Section 656.401, as applicable. 26 

* * * 27 

 (c) Community residential homes. Community residential homes 28 

of six or fewer residents shall be allowed, subject to the 29 

following criteria: 30 
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  (1) New community residential homes must be at least  1 

   1,000 feet from existing community residential  2 

   homes. 3 

  (2) Principal and accessory residential structures must  4 

   comprise at least 1,500 heated square feet. 5 

   (A)  Chain link fences shall not be allowed in  6 

    front yards or in side yards along public  7 

    streets. 8 

   (B)  The use shall comply with all applicable City  9 

    property maintenance and unsafe building   10 

    codes.  11 

 Reletter subparagraphs (d), (e), and (f) accordingly 12 

* * *  13 

 (gf)   Special uses. Special uses are 14 

residential/institutional  uses thatRooming houses are no longer 15 

permitted in the districts. Such usesRooming houses may continue if 16 

they  comply with the standards and criteria of this subsection 17 

within one year from the effective date of this legislation. The 18 

following uses are identified as special uses: residential 19 

treatment facilities, rooming houses, emergency shelter homes, 20 

group care homes, and community residential homes of seven or more 21 

residents. Beginning November 1, 2008 and thereafter, all special 22 

use facilitiesrooming houses shall provide the following 23 

information to the Director: 24 

  (1)  Information showing or depicting the accurate square 25 

   footage of the facility's livable interior space and 26 

   number of habitable rooms, as it existed on December 27 

   21, 2000; and 28 

  (2)  Licensure or permit information from the relevant  29 

   State agency showing continuous operation of the  30 
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   facility from prior to December 21, 2000; and 1 

  (32)  License or permit information or aAffidavit if such  2 

   information is not available as to number of   3 

   residents authorized to legally occupy the licensed  4 

   or permitted facilityrooming house on or before  5 

   December 21, 2000; and 6 

  (43)  Number of persons considered by the facility rooming 7 

   house to be occupying the facility as full-time  8 

   staff and/or their immediate family members. 9 

 10 

Those special use facilitiesrooming houses which provide the above 11 

information in a timely manner are considered legally non-12 

conforming and shall be allowed to continue operation until such 13 

time as the legally non-conforming status ceases, as provided in 14 

this Chapter. As relating to the information submitted as required 15 

in this subsection, special use facilitiesrooming houses shall not 16 

expand their square footage of the facility, relocate the facility 17 

or increase the number of licensed residents in the facility. 18 

Additionally, if a facility increases the number of staff, 19 

including immediate family members, the facility shall notify the 20 

Director within 90 days of such increase. 21 

The city shall through annual inspections also ensure that such 22 

rooming house uses comply with the following standards, and if the 23 

property is not in compliance with the standards after a reasonable 24 

time allowed for correction of the violation, if the facility fails 25 

to timely submit the information required herein, or if the rooming 26 

house special use intensifies, expands, or relocatesor fails to 27 

report increases in staff in a timely manner, the specialrooming 28 

house use shall not be allowed to continue. 29 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the zoning code, the 30 
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occupancy of a special use facilityrooming house shall not exceed 1 

any applicable occupancy limitation otherwise required by any 2 

federal, state or local law, rule or regulation. 3 

(1)   Chain link fences shall not be allowed in any yards along 4 

  public streets (not including alleys), and must be   5 

  located at least six feet behind the closest vertical  6 

  plane of the primary structure. 7 

(2)   The use shall comply with all applicable City property  8 

  maintenance and unsafe building codes. 9 

(3)   Twenty-four-hour, on-site management shall be required. 10 

(4)   New rooming houses are not permitted. Existing rooming  11 

  houses shall be identified by one or more of the   12 

  following existing conditions, each of which shall create 13 

  a rebuttable presumption that a building is a rooming  14 

  house: 15 

 (A)  Signs that indicate rooms, beds, or living  16 

   spaces for rent; 17 

 (B)  Interior locks, partitions, hasps, appliances  18 

   such as electric fry pans, toaster ovens,  19 

   refrigerators, etc.; 20 

 (C)  Individual storage of food; 21 

 (D)  Alphabetical, numeric, or other labeling of  22 

   bedrooms or living areas; 23 

 (E)  Alterations to structures which enhance or  24 

   facilitate its use as a rooming house. 25 

 26 

 Section 6.  Amending Section 656.1601, Ordinance Code.  27 

Chapter 656, (Zoning Code), Part 16 (Definitions), Section 656.1601 28 

(Definitions), Ordinance Code, is hereby amended to read as 29 

follows: 30 
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CHAPTER 656. ZONING CODE 1 

* * * 2 

PART 16.  DEFINITIONS 3 

 Sec. 656.1601.  Definitions. 4 

* * * 5 

 Community residential home is a dwelling unit licensed to 6 

serve clients of CFS, which provides a living environment for up to 7 

14 residents who operate as the functional equivalent of a family, 8 

including such supervision and care by supportive staff as may be 9 

necessary to meet the physical, emotional and social needs of the 10 

residents.  The residents of the community residential home are not 11 

to be related to the owner/operator by law, blood, marriage or 12 

adoption means a dwelling unit licensed to serve residents who are 13 

clients of the Department of Elderly Affairs, the Agency for 14 

Persons with Disabilities, the Department of Juvenile Justice, or 15 

the Department of Children and Families or licensed by the Agency 16 

for Health Care Administration which provides a living environment 17 

for 7 to 14 unrelated residents who operate as the functional 18 

equivalent of a family, including such supervision and care by 19 

supportive staff as may be necessary to meet the physical, 20 

emotional, and social needs of the residents and shall be limited 21 

to those persons defined as "residents" in F.S. § 419.001(1)(d).  A 22 

community residential home is not also a rooming house or a 23 

boardinghouse. 24 

* * * 25 

 Disabled person means (1) individuals with a physical or 26 

mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life 27 

activities, (2) individuals who are regarded as having such 28 

impairment; and (3) individuals with a record of such impairment.  29 

The term physical or mental impairment as defined by the Fair 30 
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Housing Act includes, but is not limited to, diseases and 1 

conditions such as orthopedic, visual, speech and hearing 2 

impairments, cerebral palsy, autism, epilepsy, muscular dystrophy, 3 

multiple sclerosis, cancer, heart disease, diabetes, HIV infection, 4 

developmental disabilities, mental illness, drug addiction (other 5 

than addiction caused by current, illegal use of a controlled 6 

substance), and alcoholism.  The term major life activity includes, 7 

but is not limited to, seeing, hearing, walking, breathing, 8 

sleeping, standing, lifting bending, reading, performing manual 9 

tasks, concentrating, thinking, communicating, caring for one’s 10 

self, learning, speaking, and working.   Juvenile offenders and sex 11 

offenders or predators, by virtue of that status, are not disabled 12 

persons.  Persons who would pose a direct threat to the health or 13 

safety of other individuals or result in substantial physical 14 

damage to the property of others are not protected by the Fair 15 

Housing Act or the Americans with Disabilities Act.  A 16 

determination that an individual poses a direct threat must rely on 17 

an individualized assessment that is based on reliable objective 18 

evidence (for example, current conduct or a recent history of overt 19 

acts).  The assessment must consider:  (1) the nature, duration, 20 

and severity of the risk of injury; (2) the probability that injury 21 

will actually occur; and (3) whether there are any reasonable 22 

accommodations that will eliminate or significantly reduce the 23 

direct threat.  24 

* * * 25 

 Dwelling, multiple-dwelling use means, for purposes of 26 

determining whether a lot is in multiple-dwelling use, the 27 

following: 28 

(1) Multiple-dwelling uses in which individual dwelling units 29 

are intended to be rented and maintained under central 30 
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ownership and management; those which are under collective 1 

ownership and management, including cooperative 2 

apartments, condominiums and the like; row houses or 3 

townhouses in individual ownership; and all other forms of 4 

multiple dwellings regardless of ownership management, 5 

taxation or other consideration, where the form does not 6 

meet the requirements of this Zoning Code for a single-7 

family dwelling. A multiple-dwelling use may contain 8 

residents who receive supportive services, whether 9 

provided by the owner, management or third parties.  10 

Owners and managers may provide or coordinate supportive 11 

services for tenants.  Ancillary services whose primary 12 

purpose is to support tenants may be located onsite, 13 

including but not limited to laundry facilities, day care 14 

and after-school programs for children, gymnasiums, 15 

swimming pools, concierge services, and coordination of 16 

care for disabled persons which are within the scope of 17 

supportive services. 18 

* * * 19 

 Dwelling, multiple-family means a building containing more 20 

than one dwelling unit. 21 

 Dwelling, one-family or single-family means a building 22 

containing only one dwelling unit. The term is not to be construed 23 

as including recreational vehicles, tents, houseboats or other 24 

forms of temporary or portable house. Manufactured homes and 25 

modular homes which comply with the provisions of Subpart C, Part 4 26 

of the Zoning Code are considered single-family dwellings. For the 27 

purposes of this Zoning Code, row houses, townhouses, condominiums, 28 

cooperative apartments or other form of dwelling units which are 29 

not in individual detached buildings meeting all the requirements 30 
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of a single-family dwelling shall not be construed to be single-1 

family dwellings. A building in which a room or other portion is 2 

rented to or occupied by someone other than a part of the family 3 

shall not be considered to be a single-family dwelling.  A dwelling 4 

unit which otherwise meets the definition of a community 5 

residential home or the definition of a group care home shall be 6 

deemed a single family unit and a noncommercial, residential use if 7 

that unit has six (6) or fewer residents, and meets the performance 8 

standards and development criteria of Part 4 of the Zoning Code, if 9 

applicable. 10 

 Dwelling unit means a room or rooms connected together 11 

constituting a residential use as a separate, independent 12 

housekeeping establishment for a family, and containing sleeping 13 

facilities and one kitchen.  The dwelling unit may be for owner 14 

occupancy or for rental or lease on a weekly, monthly or longer 15 

basis,. It shall be physically separated from other rooms or 16 

dwelling units which may be in the same structure and containing 17 

sleeping facilities and one kitchen.  A dwelling unit's residents 18 

may receive supportive services provided by or coordinated by a 19 

landlord, government agencies, third party providers, or others, 20 

whether or not as part of a government-funded program, including 21 

visits to the dwelling unit relating to such services.  It is 22 

intended that a dwelling unit not be considered a rooming house, 23 

substance abuse treatment facility, or group care home by virtue of 24 

the residents receiving supportive services that are subordinate 25 

and ancillary to the residential character of the use.   26 

* * * 27 

 Group care home means a facility occupied by seven or more 28 

persons whether operated for profit or not, which provides, for a 29 

period exceeding 24 hours, one or more personal services for 30 
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persons who required these personal services and are not related to 1 

the owner or administrator by law, blood, marriage or adoption and 2 

not in foster care.  The personal services, in addition to housing 3 

and food services, may include personal assistance with bathing, 4 

dressing, housekeeping, adult supervision, emotional security and 5 

other related services but may not include inpatient medical 6 

services.  Permissible services in a group care home include 7 

supportive services.  A group care home is not also a rooming house 8 

or boarding house. 9 

* * * 10 

 Major life activity – See “Disabled person.” 11 

 Physical or mental impairment – See “Disabled person.” 12 

 Reasonable accommodation as to the Zoning Code means any 13 

change, modification or adjustment to a Zoning Code standard that 14 

may be necessary for a person with a disability to have an equal 15 

opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling, including its public and 16 

common use spaces.  An accommodation is necessary if there is a 17 

disability related need for the accommodation.  18 

* * * 19 

 Residential treatment facility means a facility other than a 20 

hospital or nursing home, having one or more supervisors residing 21 

on the premises and providing board, lodging, medication and other 22 

treatment and counseling for persons progressing from relatively 23 

intensive treatment for criminal conduct, delinquency, mental or 24 

emotional illness, alcoholism, drug addiction or similar 25 

conditions, as well as providing relatively intensive diagnostic or 26 

therapeutic services for alcoholism, drug abuse, mental illness, 27 

emotional problems, developmental disabilities or similar 28 

conditions for its residents.  A residential treatment facility 29 

shall not be deemed to include a nursing home, hospital, group care 30 
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home, or emergency shelter home, nor shall a dwelling unit or 1 

multiple-family use be considered a residential treatment facility 2 

by virtue of the residents receiving supportive services 3 

coordinated by a landlord or a third party that are subordinate and 4 

ancillary to the residential character of the use.  Nothing shall 5 

prevent a residential treatment facility from having out patients.  6 

The residents of the residential treatment facility are generally 7 

intending to return to full normal participation in community life. 8 

* * * 9 

 Rooming houses means a building in which sleeping 10 

accommodations are offered to the public where rentals are for a 11 

period of a week or longer, and occupancy is generally by resident 12 

rather than transient, rentals are for use of a bedroom with shared 13 

access to the primary kitchen and/or bathroom(s) shared with 14 

occupants of other rented bedrooms, and where residents do not 15 

operate as a family.  Existing rooming houses shall be identified 16 

by one or more of the following existing conditions, each of which 17 

shall create a rebuttable presumption that a building is a rooming 18 

house: 19 

 (a)  Signs that indicate rooms, beds, or living spaces for 20 

rent; 21 

 (b)  Interior locks, partitions, hasps, appliances such as 22 

electric fry pans, toaster ovens, refrigerators, etc.; 23 

 (c)  Individual storage of food; 24 

 (d)  Alphabetical, numeric, or other labeling of bedrooms or 25 

living areas; 26 

 (e)  Alterations to structures which enhance or facilitate its 27 

use as a rooming house.   28 

* * * 29 

 Supportive services are services offered or provided to 30 
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residents of a dwelling that are subordinate and ancillary to the 1 

residential character of the use and that provide assistance to or 2 

aid in the resident’s life success or well-being.  Supportive 3 

services include, but are not limited to, counseling, improving 4 

knowledge and educational skills associated with substance abuse 5 

prevention, English as a Second Language, literacy, health 6 

education, consumer education, learning skills that can be used to 7 

secure and retain a job, food and groceries, credit counseling, 8 

life skills training, outpatient mental health services, outreach 9 

services, community-based substance abuse treatment (such as an  10 

Alcoholics Anonymous meeting, but not inpatient detoxification or 11 

inpatient treatment), transportation, and health service.  It is 12 

the intent of the Zoning Code that this definition includes those 13 

supportive services as are provided in grant programs for permanent 14 

supportive housing under the U.S. Housing and Urban Development 15 

Department's Continuum of Care Program.  16 

* * * 17 

Section 7.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become 18 

effective upon signature by the Mayor or upon becoming effective 19 

without the Mayor's signature. 20 

 21 

Form Approved: 22 

 23 

_________________________________  24 

Office of General Counsel 25 

Legislation Prepared By: Susan C. Grandin 26 

GC-#1127902-v1-2017-36-E.doc 27 
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APPENDIX C 

CERTIFICATION OF TRAINING AND RECEIPT OF CONSENT DECREE 

_____ I attended training on the federal Fair Housing Act and Title II of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. I have had all of my questions concerning these topics answered to my 
satisfaction. 
 
_____ I watched a videotape of the complete training session provided pursuant to the Consent 
Decree referenced below. I have had all of my questions concerning these topics answered to my 
satisfaction. 
 

I have also received a copy of the Consent Decree entered in United States v. City of 
Jacksonville, Case No. 3:15-CV-1411, filed in the United States District Court for the Middle 
District of Florida. I have read and understand these documents and have had my questions about 
these documents answered. I understand my legal responsibilities under the Consent Decree and 
will comply with those responsibilities. I further understand that the Court may impose sanctions 
on the City of Jacksonville if I violate any provision of this Decree. 
 
 
 

__________________________ 
Date 
 
 
__________________________ 
Employee/Agent Name (Print) 
 
 
__________________________ 
Employee/ Agent Signature 
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